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COMPLAINT  

COMES NOW Plaintiff JUSTIN GUY, by and through the undersigned 

attorneys, and alleges as follows: 
 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This action is for damages and for declaratory and injunctive relief 

arising out of Defendant’s violations of Plaintiff’s civil rights guaranteed to him by 

the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.  

2. On multiple occasions, Hawaii County Police Department (“HCPD”) 

officers have ordered Plaintiff Justin Guy to cease displaying a sign – and to leave 

public space, for indefinite periods of time – while sitting or standing alongside 

public roadways in Hawaii County.   On the most recent occasion, on June 3, 2014, 

Plaintiff Guy was given a criminal citation for allegedly violating Hawaii County 

Code (“HCC”) § 14-75.  That criminal charge was thereafter amended, and was 

dismissed without prejudice on August 18.   

3. For more than a year, Plaintiff’s counsel has been writing to the 

Hawaii County Office of the Corporation Counsel, asking that HCPD cease 

enforcement of HCC § 14-75 and that the ordinance be repealed (insofar as it is 

facially unconstitutional).  The Office of the Corporation Counsel has ignored 

these attempts to resolve these issues outside of court, and have instead continued 

to enforce the ordinance against Plaintiff and others. 
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4. Plaintiff Guy fears that, if he further attempts to exercise his First 

Amendment rights by holding a sign alongside a public roadway, he will be cited 

and/or arrested.  As such, he has refrained – and continues to refrain – from 

engaging in protected First Amendment activity because of this threat of criminal 

prosecution.  His free speech has therefore been, and continues to be, chilled, such 

that he seeks an order from this Court prohibiting Defendant County from 

interfering with his First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights.  Plaintiff Guy 

also seeks a declaration that HCC § 14-75 and another anti-begging ordinance, 

HCC § 15-20(a), are unconstitutional, both on their face and as applied to Mr. Guy. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This action is brought pursuant to the Civil Rights Act of 1871, 42 

U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, to redress the deprivation, under color of law, of rights 

secured by the United States Constitution. 

6. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343, 

since this case involves a civil action that is brought to redress a deprivation of a 

right secured by the Constitution of the United States. 

7. This Court is authorized to order declaratory and injunctive relief 

pursuant to Rule 57 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 

and 2202.  
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8. Venue in this Court is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because 

Defendant resides in this district and the events giving rise to these claims occurred 

in this district. 

THE PARTIES 

Plaintiff 

9. Plaintiff Justin Guy is a resident of the County of Hawaii, State of 

Hawaii.   

10. Plaintiff Guy has held or displayed signs, and has solicited alms, 

while sitting or standing on or alongside public sidewalks and/or roadways.  He 

wishes to do so again in the future. 

11. Plaintiff Guy is afraid to exercise his First Amendment right to hold a 

sign on public property, based on Defendant County’s policies and practices.  

These policies include HCC § 14-75, HCC § 15-20(a) (prohibiting begging in 

public parks), and/or Defendant County’s policies and practices of, inter alia, 

(a) telling people who appear to be engaged in the solicitation of alms that 

panhandling is illegal; (b) telling people who appear to be engaged in the 

solicitation of alms to leave public property for indefinite periods of time; 

(c) issuing criminal citations, threatening to issue criminal citations, and/or 

threatening arrest to those engaged in solicitation of alms.   

12. Solicitation of alms is constitutionally protected speech.  
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Defendant 

13. Defendant COUNTY OF HAWAII (“County”) is a political 

subdivision and municipal corporation within the State of Hawaii, and includes the 

Hawaii County Police Department (“HCPD”).   

14. The violations of Plaintiff’s First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendment 

rights, as set forth herein, were the result of employees and/or agent of Defendant 

County acting pursuant to the official policies, practices, and/or customs of the 

County, and/or because those actions have been approved, ratified, and/or enforced 

by persons and/or entities with decision-making authority. The County is sued both 

for damages to redress past violations of Mr. Guy’s First, Fourth, and Fourteenth 

Amendment rights and for prospective injunctive relief intended to prevent future 

violations of Plaintiff’s rights. 

15. At all relevant times and in all relevant respects, Defendant (and all of 

its officials, employees, and agents, including but not limited to HCPD Officers) 

has acted under color of state law, and Defendant is a “person” subject to suit 

within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

16. On information and belief, Defendant performed, participated in, 

aided and/or abetted, and/or was deliberately indifferent to the acts averred herein 

and thereby proximately caused the injuries averred herein. 
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17. At all times relevant herein, all County officials, employees, and 

agents (including but not limited to HCPD officers) were acting pursuant to 

authority delegated or conferred by Defendant County and, in doing or failing to 

do the things complained of herein, were acting within the scope of that authority. 

18. At all times relevant herein, Defendant and one or more of its 

employees and agents were acting pursuant to the official policies, practices, 

and/or customs of the County – possibly including but not limited to HCC §§ 14-

75 and 15-20(a) – which have been approved, ratified, and/or enforced by the 

persons and/or entities with final decision-making authority. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Interference with Plaintiff Guy’s First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendment Rights 

19. Plaintiff Guy is homeless.  One day in April or May 2014, he stood 

near the intersection of Luhia and Kaiwi Streets in Kailua-Kona, Hawaii holding a 

sign saying “Homeless Please Help.”   

20. Plaintiff Guy stood on Kaiwi Street, immediately before Luhia Street, 

near the Island Naturals store.  There is no concrete sidewalk in that area; instead, 

next to the paved road surface, there is a large shoulder area with gravel. 

21.  Pedestrians frequently walk along the side of the road at that 

intersection, both on the pavement and on the gravel.   

Case 1:14-cv-00400   Document 1   Filed 09/08/14   Page 6 of 20     PageID #: 6



6 
 

22. Plaintiff Guy stood next to an electrical/light pole, holding his sign.  

While standing there, an HCPD Officer drove up to him on Kaiwi Street.  The 

Officer rolled down his window and said something to the effect of, “What you are 

doing is illegal.”  The Officer told Plaintiff Guy that Plaintiff Guy should stop 

engaging in that behavior in front of the Officer.   

23. As that Officer started to drive away, a second Officer pulled up in a 

car right behind him.  The second Officer asked something like, “What did that 

guy just tell you?”  After Plaintiff Guy told the second Officer about his 

conversation with the first Officer, the second Officer said something like, “You 

better leave right now.”   

24. Approximately one to two months later, on June 3, 2014, Plaintiff 

Guy went back to the same spot near the intersection of Luhia and Kaiwi Streets 

and again held a sign saying “Homeless Please Help.”   

25. An HCPD Officer drove up to Plaintiff Guy and said something to the 

effect of, “What you’re doing is illegal and you need to leave right now.”  Plaintiff 

is informed and believes that the Officer’s name is Mario Ochoa.   

26. The HCPD Officer (believed to be Officer Ochoa) was clear in telling 

Plaintiff Guy that panhandling is illegal and that Plaintiff Guy had to leave the 

area.  Officer Ochoa did not give any indication as to when, if ever, Plaintiff Guy 
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could return to this public property.  Officer Ochoa also told Plaintiff Guy to get a 

job. 

27. Plaintiff Guy told the Officer that he believed panhandling was not 

illegal, at which point Officer Ochoa parked his car (which Plaintiff Guy believes 

was a white sport utility vehicle, with a license plate that said something to the 

effect of “combat veteran”).  Officer Ochoa then approached Plaintiff Guy and 

asked him for identification, which Mr. Guy provided.   

28. Plaintiff Guy did not feel as though he could refuse the Officer’s 

request, or that he could leave the area.   

29. Officer Ochoa seized Plaintiff Guy within the meaning of the Fourth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

30. Plaintiff Guy told Officer Ochoa that he (Plaintiff Guy) would go to a 

different location and hold a sign asking for help.  The Officer told Plaintiff Guy 

that if Plaintiff Guy did so, he would be arrested. 

31. Officer Ochoa cited Plaintiff Guy for “Panhandling” pursuant to HCC 

§ 14-75.  The citation states that Plaintiff Guy was told to “leave the area.” 

32. The citation does not indicate which subsection(s) of HCC § 14-75 

Plaintiff Guy allegedly violated, though his conduct does not actually appear to 

violate any of HCC § 14-75’s subsections. 
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33. These were not the only instances in which HCPD officers had 

interfered with Plaintiff Guy’s right to engage in protected First Amendment 

speech.  Roughly eighteen months ago, Plaintiff Guy was sitting on a concrete wall 

near the Hulihee Palace at 75-5718 Alii Drive, between the sidewalk and the 

beach.  He was playing guitar, had his guitar case open on the sidewalk, and had a 

sign sitting in the case that said “Tips.”  A police officer drove by and told Plaintiff 

Guy that he could not display the sign.  Plaintiff Guy asked whether he could 

instead display a sign saying “donations,” and the Officer responded that Plaintiff 

Guy could not have any signs of any kind.  Plaintiff Guy threw those signs away 

and stopped using them in his guitar case altogether.   

Criminal Prosecution of Plaintiff Guy 

34. The Prosecuting Attorney filed an Amended Complaint against Mr. 

Guy on July 14, charging him with violating Hawaii Revised Statutes (“HRS”) 

§ 291C-23.  Mr. Guy retained the ACLU of Hawaii and the law firm of Davis 

Levin Livingston to represent him.  Matthew Winter, an attorney with Davis Levin 

Livingston, attended the arraignment and plea hearing in Kailua-Kona with 

Plaintiff Guy on July 17, 2014.  

35. On July 23, Mr. Guy’s counsel filed a Motion to Dismiss the charge 

against Mr. Guy; on August 5, the Prosecuting Attorney filed a Memorandum in 
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Opposition to Mr. Guy’s Motion to Dismiss, and on August 6, Mr. Guy’s counsel 

filed a Reply Brief.   

36. The District Court of the Third Circuit scheduled a hearing on Mr. 

Guy’s Motion to Dismiss for the afternoon of August 18.  The morning of August 

18, the Prosecuting Attorney filed a Motion for Nolle Prosequi Without Prejudice 

as to All Counts; the Court entered a Notice of Entry and Judgment, granting the 

Prosecuting Attorney’s Motion for Nolle Prosequi, later that day.   

Attempts to Resolve this Issue Without Litigation 

37. Beginning in June of 2013, Counsel for Plaintiff repeatedly wrote to 

the Hawaii County Office of the Corporation Counsel to express concerns 

regarding the constitutionality of HCC §§ 14-75 and 15-20(a).  In total, Counsel 

for Plaintiff has contacted the Office of the Corporation Counsel no fewer than five 

times since June 2013 to ask that Defendant County address HCC § 14-75(a). 

38. Counsel first contacted Lincoln Ashida (the former Corporation 

Counsel for the County of Hawaii) regarding Hawaii County Code §§ 14-75 and 

15-20(a) on June 19, 2013, again on January 7, 2014, and for a third time on April 

15, 2014. 

39. Counsel also contacted Molly Stebbins (current Corporation Counsel 

for the County of Hawaii) about HCC § 14-75 on June 18, 2014, and again on June 

24, 2014. 
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40. To date, no one from the Office of Corporation Counsel, or any other 

County office, has provided a substantive response to Counsel’s inquiries 

regarding the constitutionality of HCC §§ 14-75 or 15-20(a). 

Defendant County’s Continued Implementation of Policy Banning Solicitation in 
Public 
 

41. Even after Counsel’s most recent outreach to Defendant County on 

June 18 and 24, 2014, Defendant County continued to enforce its policy of banning 

people engaged in protected free speech activities from public property. 

42. In the early afternoon of July 18, 2014 – a full month after Plaintiff’s 

Counsel contacted Corporation Counsel Molly Stebbins regarding this issue – 

Plaintiff Guy was riding his bicycle in Kailua-Kona near the Sack N Save on 

Henry Street.  Plaintiff Guy saw a man, who appeared as though he might be 

homeless, standing on a sidewalk speaking with a police officer.   

43. Plaintiff Guy believes that the officer talking with the man was 

Officer Ochoa, because he believes he recognized both the Officer and the same 

white SUV he had seen earlier.   

44. After the Officer left, Plaintiff Guy talked to the man who appeared to 

be homeless.  That man told Plaintiff Guy that the Officer stated that panhandling 

was illegal and that he (the homeless man) had to leave.   
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Ongoing, Irreparable Harm to Plaintiff Guy 

45. Plaintiff Guy wishes to continue soliciting alms on public property, 

but fears he will be cited and prosecuted if he solicits on public property again. 

46. Plaintiff Guy would like to stand on a public sidewalk, or along public 

roadways, and hold a sign telling the public that he is homeless and that he would 

like their help.  He would like people to know how difficult it is to be homeless.  

47. Despite this desire to exercise his right to free speech in traditional 

public fora, Plaintiff Guy has not held a sign asking for help on any public 

sidewalk or along any public street since June 3, when he was cited.  He has not 

held any sign in any public place in Hawaii County since that date.  He is afraid 

that if he does so, he will be cited, arrested, prosecuted, and/or imprisoned pursuant 

to HCC § 14-75, HCC § 15-20(a), and/or some other source of authority. 

DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

48. An actual and immediate controversy has arisen and now exists 

between Plaintiff and Defendant, which parties have genuine and opposing 

interests and which interests are direct and substantial. Defendant has failed and 

continues to fail to comply with the United States Constitution for at least the 

reasons set forth herein.  Plaintiff is therefore entitled to a declaratory judgment as 

well as such other and further relief as may follow from the entry of such a 

declaratory judgment. 
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49. Specifically, Plaintiff seeks a declaration that: 

a. HCC § 14-75, with the exception of HCC § 14-75(a)(4), is 

unconstitutional on its face and/or as applied to Plaintiff Guy;  

b. HCC § 15-20(a) is unconstitutional on its face and/or as applied to 

Plaintiff Guy;  

c. Defendant County’s policies, practices, and/or customs of telling 

those involved in solicitation that such speech/conduct is unlawful; 

threatening to eject and/or ejecting individuals involved in solicitation 

from traditional public fora; and/or citing, arresting, prosecuting, 

and/or incarcerating (or threatening to cite, arrest, prosecute, and/or 

incarcerate) those involved in solicitation-related speech is 

unconstitutional; and 

d. Defendant County, by and through the HCPD officers involved in the 

above-referenced incidents, violated Plaintiff Guy’s rights under the 

First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution. 

50. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law. Unless enjoined by the Court, 

Defendant will continue to infringe upon Plaintiff’s constitutionally protected 

rights and will continue to inflict irreparable injury.  This threat of injury to 
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Plaintiff from continuing violations requires preliminary and permanent injunctive 

relief. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

VIOLATION OF THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES 
CONSTITUTION (AS INCORPORATED BY THE FOURTEENTH 
AMENDMENT); ACTIONABLE PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

(Freedom of Speech) 
 

51. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 50, above, as if fully set forth herein. 

52. The right to free speech, protected by the First Amendment to the 

United States Constitution, is clearly established.  Solicitation of alms is 

constitutionally protected speech/conduct. 

53. Defendant County has and enforces a policy and/or custom of 

interfering with speech and/or conduct protected by the First Amendment to the 

United States Constitution by allowing officers to eject solicitors from public 

property.  

54. By preventing Plaintiff Guy from soliciting alms in traditional public 

fora, and by subjecting him to criminal prosecution for engaging in this protected 

speech, Defendant County has knowingly and unlawfully deprived Plaintiff Guy of 

the ability to exercise his established First Amendment rights. 

55. The actions of Defendant County were directed toward intimidating 

Plaintiff Guy and chilling his exercise of his protected expressive rights by, among 
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other means, silencing or diluting his message and by deterring his right to speak 

as guaranteed by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

56. As a direct and proximate result of the violations of Plaintiff Guy’s 

constitutional rights by Defendant Hawaii County, as set forth herein, Plaintiff Guy 

has suffered humiliation, embarrassment, inconvenience, mental and emotional 

distress, litigation expenses, and other compensatory damages, in an amount to be 

determined by the Court. 

57. Defendant County’s policy of prohibiting solicitation speech but 

allowing other types of speech, as evidenced by HCC §§ 14-75, 15-20(a), and the 

actions of Defendant County as set forth herein, is a content-based restriction that 

cannot survive strict scrutiny.   

58. To the extent that Defendant County purports to rely on an alternative, 

non-content-based policy for prohibiting solicitation in public fora, such policy 

does not further a substantial government interest, is not narrowly tailored (to 

restrict no more speech than necessary), and does not leave open ample alternatives 

for communication. 
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED 
STATES CONSTITUTION (AS INCORPORATED BY THE 

FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT); ACTIONABLE PURSUANT TO  
42 U.S.C. § 1983 

(Unreasonable Seizure) 
 

59. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 58, above, as if fully set forth herein. 

60. The right to be free from unreasonable seizures, protected by the 

Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, is clearly established. 

61. Defendant County has and enforces a policy and/or custom of seizing 

individuals engaged in solicitation on public property without any justification for 

doing so.  

62. By seizing Plaintiff Guy while he was soliciting alms in a traditional 

public forum, and by subjecting him to criminal prosecution for engaging in this 

protected speech, Defendant County has knowingly and unlawfully deprived 

Plaintiff Guy of the right to be free from unreasonable seizures, as guaranteed by 

the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

63. As a direct and proximate result of the violations of Plaintiff Guy’s 

constitutional rights by Defendant Hawaii County, as set forth herein, Plaintiff Guy 

has suffered humiliation, embarrassment, inconvenience, mental and emotional 

Case 1:14-cv-00400   Document 1   Filed 09/08/14   Page 16 of 20     PageID #: 16



16 
 

distress, litigation expenses and other compensatory damages, in an amount to be 

determined by the Court. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

VIOLATION OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT  
TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION  

ACTIONABLE PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983 
(Due Process) 

 
64. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 63, above, as if fully set forth herein. 

65. The right to due process, protected by the Fourteenth Amendment to 

the United States Constitution, is clearly established. 

66. Defendant County has and enforces a policy, practice, and/or custom 

of interfering with due process rights protected by the Fourteenth Amendment to 

the United States Constitution by allowing HCPD Officers to ban solicitors 

unlawfully from public property for an indeterminate period of time without 

offering a means of contesting the ban. 

67. By indefinitely and unlawfully banning Plaintiff Guy from soliciting 

in a traditional public forum without offering a means of contesting the ban, 

Defendant County has knowingly and unlawfully deprived Plaintiff Guy of his 

procedural due process rights. 

68. As a direct and proximate result of the violations of Plaintiff Guy’s 

constitutional rights by Defendant County, as set forth herein, Plaintiff Guy has 
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suffered humiliation, embarrassment, inconvenience, mental and emotional 

distress, litigation expenses and other compensatory damages, in an amount to be 

determined by the Court. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Court:   

A. Assume jurisdiction over this action; 

B. Issue a declaratory judgment stating that Defendant’s actions violated 

Plaintiff Guy’s right to solicit alms in public fora as guaranteed by the 

First Amendment to the United States Constitution (as incorporated by 

the Fourteenth Amendment); 

C. Issue a declaratory judgment stating that Defendant’s actions violated 

Plaintiff Guy’s right to be free from unreasonable seizures as guaranteed 

by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution (as 

incorporated by the Fourteenth Amendment); 

D. Issue a declaratory judgment stating that Defendant’s actions violated 

Plaintiff Guy’s right to due process as guaranteed by the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution; 

E. Issue a declaratory judgment stating that HCC § 14-75 (with the 

exception of HCC § 14-75(a)(4)) is unconstitutional on its face and/or as 

applied to Plaintiff Guy; 

Case 1:14-cv-00400   Document 1   Filed 09/08/14   Page 18 of 20     PageID #: 18



18 
 

F.  Issue a declaratory judgment stating that HCC § 15-20(a) is 

unconstitutional on its face and/or as applied to Plaintiff Guy; 

G. Issue a preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining Defendant from 

subjecting Plaintiff Guy to the customs, policies, practices, rules, 

regulations, acts and omissions set forth in this Complaint; 

H. Retain jurisdiction over Defendant until such time as the Court is 

satisfied that Defendant’s unlawful customs, policies, practices, rules, 

regulations, acts and omissions complained of herein no longer exist and 

will not recur; 

I. Award reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and other expenditures incurred 

as a result of bringing this action, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and other 

applicable laws; 

J. Award actual and nominal damages to Plaintiff for the violations of 

clearly established law set forth herein; and 

K. Order such other relief as this Court deems just and proper. 
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 DATED: Honolulu, Hawaii, September 8, 2014. 

 
   /s/ Daniel M. Gluck 

DANIEL M. GLUCK 
LOIS K. PERRIN 
AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION  
OF HAWAII FOUNDATION 
 
MARK S. DAVIS 
MICHAEL K. LIVINGSTON 

      MATTHEW C. WINTER 
      DAVIS LEVIN LIVINGSTON 
 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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